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7 IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE UNITED STATES FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA UNITED STATES
OF AMERICA, Plaintiff, vs. DOCKET NO. 1:21 CR 315 JAMES LESLIE LITTLE, Defendant. SENTENCING
MEMORANDUM RE: 18 U.S.C. §§ 3551(b) & 3553(a)(6) James Leslie Little, by and through his counsel of
record, Assistant Federal Public Defender Peter Adolf, submits this memorandum (1) regarding, at the direction
of this Court, the legality of the government's proposed sentence of both imprisonment and probation, and (2)
regarding the statutory mandate that this Court consider the "the need to avoid unwarranted sentence disparities
among defendants with similar records who have been found guilty of similar conduct." I. Permissible punishment
for petty offenses The government's strained and fanciful reading of 18 U.S.C. §§ 3551(b) & 3561 supporting its
request for a sentence that would be illegal for a felony conviction was recently rejected firmly and concisely by
Judge Collar-Kotelly in a related case – vacating, pursuant to Fed. R. Cr. P. 35(a) as "clear error," a sentence she
had imposed days earlier without legal objection. 7 Section 3551(b) provides a choice among three alternative
punishments. If a court chooses to impose probation, it does so pursuant to the terms of § 3561 which prohibits
the imposition of probation when the defendant is sentenced at the same time to a term of imprisonment. This
further emphasizes the alternative nature of incarceration and probation in any one sentencing decision.
Accordingly, a plain reading of the statutory sections at issue – 3551(b) and 3561– leads to the conclusion that a
district court must choose between probation and imprisonment when imposing a sentence for a petty offense.
United States v. Spencer, 1:21 CR 147, doc. no. 70 at 5 (D.D.C. Jan. 19, 2022) (cleaned up) (quoting United
States v. Martin, 363 F.3d 25, 35 (1st Cir. 2004)). Indeed, the government has previously admitted the weakness
of its analysis. When questioned by Chief Judge Howell about why it was asking for restitution payments without
asking for a term of probation to provide a mechanism for collection, the government cited the term of
incarceration it was asking for, suggesting that a combination of jail and probation was not possible, and
admitting that up to that point the United States Attorney's Office for the District of Columbia had never asked for
a sentence of both jail and probation in any related case, or indeed in any other case. See United States v.
Griffith, 1:21 CR 204-4, Transcript of Sentencing at 37-39 (Oct. 28, 2021) (Howell, C.J.). The government's
fundamental mistake is not understanding the obvious purpose of 18 U.S.C. § 3561(a)(3). The government
readily admits that a judge may not impose both probation and incarceration as a sentence for a single count of
conviction for a felony or class A misdemeanor. More importantly, split sentences are barred for defendants
convicted of multiple felony counts, multiple class A misdemeanors, or any combination of both. Rather, the
Federal Sentencing Guidelines devote multiple chapters to the thorny problems of sentencing on multiple counts,
all to produce a single recommended guideline 7 range in every case regardless of the number of counts or
whether the crimes are related to each other. The Sentencing Guidelines do not apply to petty offenses at all,
however, and do not address what is to be done with a defendant being sentenced simultaneously for both a
petty offense and for other more serious crimes. § 3561(a)(3) simply makes clear that petty offenses are
considered separately from the more serious crimes to which the Guidelines apply, and that a judge retains the
full range of sentencing options for a petty offense – probation or incarceration – even if the judge is imposing a
different type of sentence on more serious charges at the same hearing. The Guidelines themselves, in
commentary, make this explicit: Notwithstanding any other provision of the guidelines, the court may impose any
sentence authorized by statute for each count that is a Class B or C misdemeanor or an infraction…. Sentences
for such offenses may be consecutive to or concurrent with sentences imposed on other counts. In imposing
sentence, the court should, however, consider the relationship between the Class B or C misdemeanor or
infraction and any other offenses of which the defendant is convicted…. For the sake of judicial economy, the
Commission has exempted all Class B and C misdemeanors and infractions from the coverage of the guidelines.
USSG § 1B1.9 comment. (nn. 1 & 2; backg'd). In short, when a judge sentences a defendant on multiple counts
including both serious and petty offenses, the judge simply decides on a sentence on the more serious counts
normally, taking the advisory guidelines into account, and then considers the sentences for any petty offenses
separately, without being bound in any way by the decision on the more serious counts. § 3561(a)(3) implements
that simple proposition in tandem with § 3553(b). The former does not give a judge the power to impose a
sentence of both probation and imprisonment for a single petty offense. 7 The government has made similar
arguments before at least two other judges of this District in related cases. No judge has taken up the
government's suggestion and imposed such a sentence. 1 II. 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a)(6): "the need to avoid
unwarranted sentence disparities among defendants with similar records who have been found guilty of similar
conduct" Nearly 800 people have been charged with committing offenses in and around the Capitol on January
6, 2021, and over 200 have pled guilty, with only a minority convicted of crimes of violence, theft, or destruction
of property. Most are, and will be, convicted of simply entering the building (and/or particular spaces within the
building) without a permit or other permission, just like Mr. Little. The volume of similar cases is unprecedented in
the history of the United States courts, and the statutory mandate under 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a)(6) that this Court
impose consistent sentences "among defendants with similar records who have been found guilty of similar
conduct" in those cases has never been more important. 'I think the thing people miss about the rioters is that it
was a really strange crowd, and a diverse crowd in terms of why they were there,' she said. Some rioters 'looked
stupefied that they were inside the U.S. Capitol,' even asking her where the restrooms were. Some were hostile
and aggressive, and seemed capable of violence. Others, she says, 'thought they were part of some great
revolution.' 2 1See doc. no. 31-2 at 5-9. 2Dominique Maria Bonessi, "'I Can Be Steady': A Reporter On
Documenting The Insurrection From The Inside," 'It Was An Attack On Our Hometown': How 11 Washingtonians
Remember The Insurrection, DCIST (Jan. 5, 2022) (quoting Lisa Dejardins, a political correspondent for PBS
NewsHour) (available at https://dcist.com/story/22/01/05/dc-locals-jan-6-capitol-insurrection-anniversary/) 7 Early
in the charging and investigation process, decisions were made at the highest levels of the Department of
Justice, in the face of political and public pressure, to separate out different categories of January 6 cases, to
focus resources on the most serious offenders, and to resolve the cases of the least culpable with misdemeanor
pleas and sentences of probation. That was an entirely appropriate and just use of prosecutorial discretion. By
the time the undersigned had received the plea offer for Mr. Little and discussed it with the government, five
defendants similarly situated to Mr. Little had received non- custodial sentences as recommended by the



government, and one more received such a sentence later on pursuant to an agreed-upon non-custodial
recommendation. The government's position in Mr. Little's case, at the end of the day, is entirely inconsistent with
its position in those earlier cases, as its memo makes clear: [T]he possibility that Little could have done
something worse does not change the fact that what he did do that day establishes a need for incarceration. His
baseline conduct, breaching the Capitol, is serious: the riot could not have succeeded without the efforts of even
more minor contributors like Little. Little's conduct calls for a period of incarceration. Doc. no. 31 at 10. The
demands of general deterrence weigh in favor of a term of incarceration and a term of probation in cases where
a defendant has pleaded guilty to violating 40 U.S.C. § 5104(e)(2)(G), Parading, Demonstrating, or Picketing in a
Capitol Building confinement. Indeed, general deterrence may be the most compelling reason to impose a
sentence of a term of incarceration and a term of probation because such defendants contributed to the
lawlessness, public disorder, and drained limited law enforcement resources needed to combat the more violent
rioters. Doc. no. 31 at 11-12. This decision that the "baseline conduct" for a petty offense in cases such as Mr.
Little's merits both jail time and probation represents a complete policy 7 turnaround by the Department of
Justice, as noted above, and represents an abdication of the government's responsibilities under § 3553(a)(6) in
the face of perceived public and judicial pressure. Mr. Little is no more culpable than the defendants sentenced
to non- custodial probation pursuant to the government's recommendation, as discussed below. Valerie Elaine
Ehrke signed a plea agreement in which the government promised not to oppose non-custodial probation. Her
initial charges were the same as Mr. Little's, and the count she pled to was the same contained in his plea
agreement. She posted a video on Facebook while still inside the Capitol building with the caption "We made it
inside, right before they shoved us all out. I took off when I felt pepper spray in my throat! Lol." Her Facebook
profile page showed her to be an adherent of QAnon. Jessica and Joshua Bustle were sentenced to probation
after the government recommended probation with house arrest as a special condition. Their initial charges were
the same as Mr. Little's, and the count each one of them pled to was the same contained in Mr. Little's plea
agreement. During or after the riot, Ms. Bustle posted on Facebook: "Pence is a traitor. We stormed the capital
[sic]. An unarmed peaceful woman down the hall from us was shot in the neck by cops. It's insane here." In
another message, apparently written after the riot, she wrote "We need a Revolution! We can accept an honest
and fair election but this is NOT fair and patriots don't want to see their country brought into communism and
destroyed over a lie." Anna Morgan Lloyd was sentenced to probation, as the government recommended. Her
initial charges were the same as Mr. Little's, and the count she pled to was the same contained in his plea
agreement. She posted a photo of herself on Facebook with the caption "Inside the Capitol Building" and then
posted: "I'm here. Best day ever. We stormed 7 the capital building me and Dona Bissey were in the first 50
people in." The next day she posted "We are home .. Thank You to ALL that messaged checking in and
concerned. It was a day I' II remember forever. I'm proud that I was a part of it! No Shame. BTW turn off the
#FakeNews" and then "That was the most exciting day of my life." She further commented "Dona Bissey I'm so
glad we were there. For the experience and memory but most of all we can spread the truth about what
happened and open the eyes of some of our friends." Two days after the riot she posted a photos including
images of protesters climbing the scaffolding and a protestor holding a stolen and broken sign that read "Speaker
of the House." Bissey wrote on the post "This really happened! Anna Morgan-Lloyd took the photo." Danielle
Doyle was sentenced to probation after the government recommended probation including two months of house


















































